
DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM, AND SWANLEY HEALTH 
AND WELLBEING BOARD

Councillor Roger Gough (Chair) 

Councillor Ann Allen 
Councillor Tony Searles
Councillor David Turner

Debbie Stock 
Dr Elizabeth Lunt 

Sheri Green 
Graham Harris 

Anne Tidmarsh
Andrew Scott - Clark
Nick Moor

Melanie Norris 
Sarah Kilkie

Lesley Bowles 

Jo Pannell

Kent County Council

Dartford Borough Council
Sevenoaks District Council
Gravesham Borough Council

DGS - CCG
DGS - CCG

Dartford Borough Council
Dartford Borough Council

Kent County Council
Kent County Council
Kent County Council

Gravesham Borough Council
Gravesham Borough Council

Sevenoaks District Council

Healthwatch

A meeting of the above Board will be held on Wednesday 30 August 2017 

In Room B12 at 3.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

If a member of the Board is unable to attend this meeting, apologies for absence can 
be submitted to the Clerk to the meeting on 01322 343251 or by eMail to 
neil.murphy@dartford.gov.uk

Questions relating to the arrangements for meetings of the Board should be directed 
in the first instance to the Clerk

A G E N D A 
1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations Of Interest 

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)
The Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley 



Health and Wellbeing Board held on 28 June 2017 are attached for 
confirmation.

Issues arising from the Minutes not addressed elsewhere on the 
Agenda can be raised at this item.

4. Kent County Council Health and Wellbeing Board (Pages 7 - 12)
The Chairman may wish to report on any issues of relevance to this 
Board arising from the meeting held on 14 June 2017

The draft minutes for the meeting are attached for Member 
information. 

5. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will report on any urgent item and determine its 
position on the Agenda.

6. Update on the implications of new developments for the Health 
Service and the Shape of Service Provision. 
Members may wish to update the Board on any relevant issues.

7. Making Every Contact Count 
A presentation by Sarah Jewell, Public Health Workforce 
Development Manager – PHE SE – Kent, Surrey and Sussex.

8. A New Vision of Health Management in Leisure Centres 
A presentation by Mr Rob Swain (Gravesham Community Leisure) 
and Dr Vasudaven.

9. Actions Outstanding from Previous meetings and the Board Forward 
Work Programme (Pages 13 - 16)

10. Information Exchange 



DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DARTFORD GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Health and Wellbeing 
Board held on Wednesday 28 June 2017.

PRESENT:

Also 
Present

Councillor Roger Gough (Chairman)
Councillor Mrs Ann D Allen MBE
Councillor David Turner
Sheri Green
Nick Moor
Melanie Norris

Hayley Brooks, Karen Cook, David Holman, Dr Sarah 
MacDermott, Theresa Oliver, Dr Manpinder Sahota, and 
Catherine Read. 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Searles, Dr. Lunt, Graham 
Harris, Andrew Scott – Clarke, Sarah Kilkie, Lesley Bowles, Jo Pannell Allison 
Duggal and Terry Hall.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received.

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Health and Wellbeing Board 
held on 12 April 2017 were agreed as a correct record of that meeting.

4. KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

The Chairman updated the Board on the major issues discussed at the meeting of 
the Kent Health and Wellbeing board held on 14 June 2017.

Councillor Gough explained that the Kent Board had concentrated on the two major 
issues:

Adult Social Care, receiving two reports one relating to an update on the position of 
Social Care in Kent, which had focussed on ways to rebuild capacity for domiciliary 
care,  and a second looking at the financial position of the Better Care Fund for 
2016/17 and the approach being taken to plan for 2017/2019.



An update on the Your Life Your Wellbeing Pilots, which had been established 
(mostly) in east Kent and which it was now proposed to extend across the County 
later this year.

Councillor Gough also informed the Members that he had stepped down as 
Chairman of the Kent Board, his place being taken by Dr Peter Oakford, as his 
County remit had been amended.

5. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman reported that there were no urgent issues for the Board to consider.

6. LOCAL CHILDREN'S PARTNERSHIP GROUPS: UPDATE REPORT 

The Board received a presentation from Mr Nick Moor, KCC Head of Service (0 – 
25) North, on work undertaken by the Local Children’s Partnership Groups which 
focussed particularly on the 2017/18 Early Help and Preventative Services Grants 
process and awards for the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley areas.

Mr Moor explained that the grants awarded were classified as Innovation Grants and 
were made on a one off basis to fund 

 Innovations / pilots or pilot scheme, or; 
 The development of new organisations which would contribute to the 

Council’s strategic priorities.  

He explained the grant aiding process to the Board and detailed the priorities and 
grants awarded by each of the three partnership groups.

It was noted that one of the groups which had received grant aid had subsequently 
ceased trading and that KCC were attempting to recover the funding amount from 
their administrators.

Mr Moor further reported that monitoring reports on the continuity and sustainability 
of the projects funded would be presented in future years.

The Board thanked Mr Moor for his presentation and agreed to note the report.

7. JOINT KENT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY: 2018 - 2023 

The Board received a draft of the Kent Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23 
which had been discussed at the Kent Health and Wellbeing Board on 22nd March 
2017.  

The report, presented by Karen Cook - Policy and Relationships Adviser (Health), 
Kent County Council - outlined a strategy responding to a challenge set by 
commissioners to more effectively support the commissioning decision making 
process.  



Having approved the draft Strategy the Kent HWB agreed, amongst other things that 
the Strategy be presented to local HWB for comment, especially relating to the 
priorities identified in Appendix 2 which relate to Health Priorities.

Having considered the draft report the Board welcomed the Strategy and the 
approach toward preventative intervention (especially Obesity) rather than curative 
work.  

The Board also identified the following points as requiring refinement:

Priority 1 – a tighter definition of “Housing” in the Outcomes section

Priority 2 – the addition of “Sexual Health”, and “Earlier Identification of Sexual 
Abuse” in the Outcomes section

Priority 3 – a redefinition “Recovery from mental health problems” in the Outcomes 
section, and the introduction of a methodology to avoid target chasing.

Priority 4 - a tighter definition of “Housing” in the Outcomes section, to include care 
situations.

8. ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH SERVICE. 

The Board received a report on the process and outcome of the recent procurement 
exercise undertaken to commission specialist mental health care services for 
children and young people across Kent. 

The contract was for a 5 year period with an option to extend for a further 2 years 

It was noted that the current contract would expire in August 2017 and that it was 
essential that the new contract commence in September 2017.

Details of the selection criteria and the client consultation process were provided 
together with information relating to the suppliers that submitted applications for the 
contract.

The Board noted that the North East London Foundation Trust had provided the 
most satisfactory application and that they had been awarded the contract to 
commence in September 2017. 

9. KENT HEADSTART 

Ms Catherine Read presented to the Board a synopsis of the work of the HeadStart 
project in Gravesham.

HeadStart is a lottery funded pilot providing five years investment into work to 
improve young people’s resilience and mental health.  

The pilot aims to improve the mental well-being of at - risk 10 to 16 year-olds by 
developing



 the necessary local conditions to enable that strategy to become sustainable 
after a two year introductory period

 a more robust evidence-base around ‘what works’ in the area of mental well-
being to be pro-actively shared beyond HeadStart with the aim of contributing 
to the national and local policy debate with those at risk of mental Health 
problems.

The HeadStart pilot works in four main areas, local schools; the home; through social 
media; and through the Community, and provides 

 Kent’s Resilience Approach and Quality Mark Resources and Support
 A Menu of Evidence Based Interventions
 A Common Measurement Framework which is accessible to two year groups.
 Workforce Development
 Domains Approach to Resilience, Mindfulness, Youth Mental Health First Aid.

It was noted that HeadStart was currently planned to be operated in four geographic 
regions in Kent,

a) Swale and Gravesham;
b) Ashford, Shepway, and Canterbury; 
c) Thanet and Maidstone; and,
d) Tonbridge & Malling and Dover 

which had been identified as most suitable for the pilot, and work is either underway 
or is planned in these regions.  

In addition work on the establishment of a Resilience Hub is also underway.

The Board thanked Ms Read for her presentation and noted the information that she 
had provided.

10. UPDATE ON THE IMPLICATIONS OF NEW DEVELOPMENTS FOR THE HEALTH 
SERVICE AND THE SHAPE OF SERVICE PROVISION. 

There were no matters to consider.

11. INFORMATION EXCHANGE 

There was no information to disseminate.

12. ACTIONS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS OF THE DGSHWB, 
AND FORWARD WORK PLAN. 

The Board received and noted a report which set out the plan of work for the 
forthcoming year and identified outstanding issues that required attention.



The Chairman undertook to pursue the matter of the establishment of the Obesity 
Working Group with the relevant Officers outside the meeting.





1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MINUTES of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held in the Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 14 June 2017.

PRESENT: Dr F Armstrong, Dr B Bowes, Ms P Davies, Mr G K Gibbens, 
Mr R W Gough, Mr S Inett, Mr A Ireland, Dr N Kumta, Dr S Lundy (Substitute for Dr S 
Dunn), Dr E Lunt, Dr T Martin, Mr P J Oakford, Mr A Scott-Clark and Dr R Stewart

ALSO PRESENT: Mr G Lymer

IN ATTENDANCE: Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

284. Apologies and Substitutes 
(Item 1)

Apologies for absence had been received from Mr I Ayres, Ms H Carpenter, Mr P B 
Carter, Dr J Chaudhuri, Ms F Cox, Dr S Dunn, Cllr F Gooch, Mr S Perks, Cllr K Pugh 
and Cllr P Watkins. 

Dr S Lundy was present as a substitute for Dr S Dunn. 

285. Election of Chairman 
(Item 2)

Dr B Bowes proposed and Mr G K Gibbens seconded that Mr P J Oakford be elected 
Chairman of the Board. 

There being no other nominations, this was agreed without a vote, and Mr Oakford 
duly took the chair.

286. Election of Vice-Chairman 
(Item 3)

Mr R W Gough proposed and Dr N Kumta seconded that Dr B Bowes be elected 
Vice-Chairman of the Board. 

There being no other nominations, this was agreed without a vote.

287. Chairman's Welcome 
(Item 4)

1. The Chairman thanked Mr Gough for his chairmanship of the Board over 6 
years and the vast knowledge of the subject matter that he had built up over this 
time. A proud culmination of the work of the Board so far was the recent signing-off of 
the Kent and Medway Transformation Plan, and, with the advent of Sustainability and 



2

Transformation Plans (STPs), the Board was now moving into a new era.  This might 
be a good time to review the Board’s work and direction and ask if it was still fit for 
purpose.  Mr Oakford added that he planned to visit each member of the Board in 
turn to seek their views on the Board’s future direction.  

2. Mr Gibbens referred to a letter received from the Chief Executive of the East 
Kent Hospitals University Trust (EKHUFT) about the emergency transfer of some 
services from the Kent and Canterbury Hospital on 19 June, which had been tabled 
at the meeting and would be emailed to Board members. He referred to local 
residents’ concerns about the proposals and highlighted the importance of the public 
being kept fully informed, despite the attendance at a recent public meeting to 
discuss the issue having been very low. He said it was vital that the transfer of 
services be as smooth as possible, and asked that the issue be reviewed at a future 
meeting of the Board. Dr Armstrong explained that the service transfer was to protect 
quality and clinical safety and that the issue was primarily one of workforce.  Dr Lunt 
agreed and said that both primary and secondary care sectors were struggling 
nationally with workforce issues.  Dr Kumta assured the Board that the Trust had not 
planned to be in a position to need to make such a transfer; it had done this as an 
emergency measure.        

288. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the agenda for this 
meeting 
(Item 5)

There were no declarations of interest.

289. Minutes of the Meeting held on 22 March 2017 
(Item 6)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Board’s meeting held on 22 March 2017 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.   

290. Revised Budget 2017-18 and Medium Term Financial Plan 2017 - 2 
(Item 7)

1. Mr Ireland introduced the report, which had been considered and its 
recommendations agreed by the County Council on 25 May 2017.  He explained that 
a tour of local delivery boards would commence on 15 June and that, following 
consideration and comment by the Adult Social Care Cabinet Committee on 9 June 
2017, two key decisions were about to be taken which would pass the benefit of the 
additional government funding to the care sector by extending contracts for a 
package of community support services, including domiciliary care and other 
homecare services.  

2. Ms Davies reported that the issue had been discussed in detail at meetings of 
the CCGs’ Accountable Officers. She added that it was important that the money be 
spent where it could close the gap in health inequalities, and she said providers were 
very willing to be part of joint working to find a solution. Mr Inett added that there had 
been engagement with all relevant groups, including the public. Mr Ireland 
commented that taking too long to decide how to spend the additional funding could 
mean there would be less time for it to have an impact before winter 2017/18 set in. 
As the additional funding was non-recurrent but would be phased over three years, 



3

the County Council would need to be careful not to overcommit it.  Ms Davies added 
that, to make best use of the money to support social care, services need to be 
integrated as far as possible. 

3. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report, and given in response to 
comments and questions, be noted.         

291. Better Care Fund 2016/17 Outturn and 2017/19 Plan 
(Item )

Mrs A Tidmarsh, Director, OPPD, and Miss M Goldsmith, Finance Business Partner, 
were in attendance for this item.

1. Mrs Tidmarsh introduced the report and explained the background and context 
to the request for the Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board to have delegated 
authority to approve the plan, given that it had to be agreed by CCGs and 
Accountable Officers, should the need arise in advance of the next meeting of the 
Board.  Miss Goldsmith clarified that the funding listed at Table 2 in the report was 
‘flat cash’ and was a combination of new and existing monies. 

2. Dr Bowes and Mr Ireland agreed that the additional funding allocated for adult 
social care could be used as a driver for integration and that plans for spending it 
should now be made more specific.  

3. RESOLVED that:- 

a) the 2016/17 outturn position and the approach to developing the 2017/19 
plan be noted; and

b) the Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board be given delegated 
authority to approve the plan, given that it had to be agreed by CCGs and 
Accountable Officers, should the need arise in advance of the next 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 

  

292. Update on 'Your Life, Your Wellbeing' Pilots 
(Item 8)

1. Mrs Tidmarsh presented a series of slides which set out phase 3 of the ‘Your 
Life, Your Wellbeing’ Transformation programme, the design phase, which would 
include pilot schemes and projects.  An outline of and timetable for the latter was 
included.  Mrs Tidmarsh responded to comments and questions from the Board, 
including the following:-

a) Ms Davies expressed concern about the timelines attached to the projects 
and commented that not much pilot activity was being proposed for East 
Kent.  Mrs Tidmarsh explained that the stages of implementation were still 
becoming clear.  Although most of the design work had indeed evolved in 
East Kent, it was expected that projects tried in one area could be rolled 
out across other areas; 



4

b) Mr Inett welcomed the work set out in the report and Mrs Tidmarsh 
emphasised the links to the STP and local care services and the aim to 
establish a single point of access; 

c) the Chairman asked why the timelines set out did not seem to include time 
for evaluation and Mrs Tidmarsh agreed that this element could be more 
clearly shown as part of the work stream;

d) Dr Kumta also welcomed the programme of projects set out and asked 
where and by whom the joint business case for the integrated “rehab” 
project would be signed off. Mrs Tidmarsh explained that, when ready, the 
joint business plan would be signed off by the County Council;

e) Dr Kumta asked how the local care projects would be delivered, and Mrs 
Tidmarsh explained that these would need to feed into both the local care 
STP and the local CCG; and

f) in response to a question about how roll-out would be effected across the 
county, Mrs Tidmarsh explained that the same process would be used as 
had been followed successfully before; roll-out would be straightforward if a 
single agency were involved, but in the case of integrated services, 
negotiation and joint agreement would be needed. Some services leant 
themselves to being delivered by a single agency, while other services 
required integration. Mr Ireland added that integration would allow much 
more to be delivered and would achieve better value for money.  The STP 
included much useful detail of governance models which could be used to 
deliver integrated services.  Dr Bowes undertook to raise this issue at a 
meeting of his Clinical Board on 15 June.  Ms Davies added that, although 
there was a great appetite among CCGs to deliver integrated services, the 
different statuses of services (i.e. social care was means-tested while 
health care was free at point of delivery) would add complexity.

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the presentation and given in 
response to comments and questions be noted, and the progress to date be 
welcomed.  

293. Kent Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme 
(Item 9)

RESOLVED that the work programme be agreed, with the addition of the 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment to the agendas for September 2017 (for pre-
consultation discussion) and March 2018 (for final sign-off).  

294. Minutes of the Local Health and Wellbeing Boards 
(Item 10)

RESOLVED that the minutes of local health and wellbeing boards, listed below, be 
noted:

Ashford – 26 April 2017
Canterbury and Coastal – 11 January 2017
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley – 1 February 2017 and 12 April 2017



5

South Kent Coast – 24 January 2017 and 21 March 2017
Swale – 19 April 2017
Thanet – 9 March 2017 and 25 May 2017
 

295. Date of Next Meeting - 19 July 2017 
(Item 11)

POST MEETING NOTE:  
This meeting was subsequently cancelled as it was considered to be too soon 
following the 14 June meeting. 





DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

30 AUGUST 2017
 

______________________________________________________________________________

1

From: Executive Group (Member Services) 

Subject: Action Points Arising From Previous Meeting(s) of the DGS HWB and 
Forward Work Plan

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary:
The report details progress against action points arising from the previous meeting(s) and 
proposes the Board’s forward work plan.

Recommendations

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:

1) Note the action points arising from previous meeting(s) and subsequent action, 
and consider whether any item should be added to the forward work plan to enable 
a more detailed discussion at a future meeting.

2) Consider and approve the forward work plan, subject to any amendments or 
additions that the Board wishes to make. 

1. Background and discussion

1.1 It is often the case that during discussion on an item, the Board will record its wish 
that something or other is done. It is important that the Board maintains a focus on 
these actions until they are discharged to ensure that the Board’s agenda is 
progressed. 

1.2 Current actions arising are as follows:-

Meeting 
first 
raised

Minute/Item Action taken/to be taken Lead

12/4/2017 Min 52 – 
Minutes (iro 
Obesity Task 
and Finish 
WG)

T.Hall to assume chairmanship, engage 
wider partners and organise further 
meetings

T.Hall (PH)

28/6/2017 Min 12 – 
Actions 
outstanding 
from previous 
meetings of 

The Chairman to pursue the matter of the 
establishment of the Obesity Working 
Group with the relevant Officers (above 
action re. Min 52 refers)

Chairman



DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

30 AUGUST 2017
 

______________________________________________________________________________

2

the DGSHWB 
and Forward 
Work Plan

1.3 The Board’s work plan schedules regular update reports, for example from the Local 
Children’s Partnership Groups (previously Children’s Operational Groups) and Health 
Inequalities Groups, as well as giving advance notice of items which the Board has 
indicated that it wishes to consider (including those identified through actions arising), 
or that the Kent Board has asked it to consider.

1.4 The Board had been hoping to welcome a representative from Sport England to this 
meeting to discuss priorities and allocation of funds to local sports groups. 
Unfortunately, the date proved not to be convenient. However, Jon Horne of Sport 
England has confirmed his availability for the Board’s next meeting, in October and 
the work plan has been updated accordingly. 

1.5 The work plan does not preclude matters not on the work plan being submitted to any 
meeting of the Board with the agreement of the Chairman.

1.6 The Board has an opportunity at each meeting to consider its work plan and add 
items, particularly key plans and strategies, when the timing of such is known.  

2 Conclusion and Recommendations
The Board is asked to:

Note the action points arising from previous meeting(s) and subsequent action, 
consider whether any additional item should be added to the forward work plan to 
enable a more detailed discussion at a future meeting, or any other action taken and 
agree the work plan at Appendix A.

3 Contact details

Neil Murphy, Committee Coordinator, Dartford Borough Council, 
email: neil.murphy @dartford.gov.uk

4. Background Papers - None



1

DARTFORD GRAVESEND AND SWANLEY HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD

30 AUGUST 2017
Agenda Item 

APPENDIX A
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley HWB Forward Work Plan
Meeting Topic Suggested 

Lead

25 October 
2017

Priorities and grant funding for sports - 
representative from Sport England 

Jon Horne (Sport 
England)

20 December 
2017

Update from district LCPGs Nick Moor

Update from obesity working groups

21 February 
2018

Update re. Headstart project Catherine Read 

ITEMS TO BE SCHEDULED

Employability & Health – GP Education
New District Health Deal - Board to receive update on plans for North Kent ‘district 
deal’ once discussions further advanced
Falls Prevention – Board to receive further report – Allison Duggal
Annual report from the HIGs - districts




	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Kent County Council Health and Wellbeing Board
	9 Actions Outstanding from Previous meetings and the Board Forward Work Programme
	Work Plan Appendix


